Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Grace Dabean Lee

April 10, 2024

Unlocking the AAPI Vote: A Study on Language Ballots and Voter Turnout in California

by

Grace Dabean Lee

Dr. Bernard Fraga

Adviser

Political Science

Dr. Bernard Fraga

Adviser

Dr. Alexander Bolton

Committee Member

Dr. Zachary Peskowitz

Committee Member

Dr. Jeffrey Staton

Committee Member

Unlocking the AAPI Vote: A Study on Language Ballots and Voter Turnout in California

By

Grace Dabean Lee

Dr. Bernard Fraga

Adviser

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Political Science

2024

Abstract

Unlocking the AAPI Vote: A Study on Language Ballots and Voter Turnout in California By Grace Dabean Lee

Why do Asian voters have lower turnout despite a demonstrated interest in participation? Because of their high rates of immigration, Asian Americans are especially impacted by language barriers, evident by a large proportion of Asian voters with limited English proficiency. This paper studies the correlation between Asian language ballots provided by Section 203 of the Voting Rights Act and corresponding Asian voter turnout at the county level in California for presidential and midterm elections from 2012 to 2022. While other studies have covered this topic area, this paper is unique in its subdivision by national origin group. The hypotheses test for six individual Asian ethnic groups in California: Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Filipino, Vietnamese and Indian. With varying statistical significance, the paper finds a negative correlation between the provision of the language ballot and the corresponding Asian national origin group's voter turnout. The Hindi ballot had the greatest negative correlation to Indian voter turnout, explained by the especially wide language diversity spoken by Indian Americans. The combined regression also showed a negative correlation of statistical significance between the provision of an Asian language ballot and Asian voter turnout. Some limitations that explain for the overall trend are counties or precincts with hidden coverage, where they may be substantively covered but not indicated in the data due to missing reports from the registrar's office. Limited English proficient voters, even when provided with the ballot, may still be not predisposed to vote because of socioeconomic factors that cannot be observed in this study.

Unlocking the AAPI Vote: A Study on Language Ballots and Voter Turnout in California

By

Grace Dabean Lee

Dr. Bernard Fraga

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Political Science

2024

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Fraga for his constant support and unending knowledge throughout the whole year. I could not have had a better adviser and your infinite wisdom inspires me everyday.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Bolton, Dr. Peskowitz and Dr. Staton for their deliberation and feedback before, during and after the presentation. It is an honor to be able to learn from you.

Last but not least, a huge thank you to my friends and family who have listened to my repeated ramblings with a kind smile. This thesis could not have come together without every single one of you. Thank you.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	12
VOTER BEHAVIOR DEFINED THROUGH IDENTITY	12
KEY LEGISLATION AT THE FEDERAL AND STATE LEVEL	15
Studies of Interest	18
THEORETICAL ARGUMENT	21
Resource Theory	21
INFORMATION THEORY	22
HYPOTHESES	24
DATA	25
VOTER TURNOUT DATA	25
LANGUAGE BALLOT DATA	27
Figure 1: Section 203 Asian Language Provisions	28
RESEARCH DESIGN	31
RESULTS	34
Figure 2: Chinese Voter Turnout Regression	34
Figure 3: Japanese Voter Turnout Regression	
Figure 4: Korean Voter Turnout Regression	37
Figure 5: Filipino Voter Turnout Regression	
Figure 6: Vietnamese Voter Turnout Regression	
Figure 7: Indian Voter Turnout Regression	
Figure 8: Model 5 Comparison	44
Figure 9: Asian Voter Turnout Regression	45
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	47
HIDDEN COVERAGE	47
LEP VOTERS AND AUTOMATIC REGISTRATION	49
REFERENCES	52

Introduction

As the fastest growing racial group in the United States, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders (AAPI) make up around 7% of the US adult population and 5.6% of eligible voters (Ruiz et al. 2023, Schaeffer 2023). They grew from 10.5 million in 2000 to 18.9 million in 2019 and according to the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, are projected to "be the United States' largest immigrant group, with their numbers estimated to surpass 46 million" by 2060 (Budiman and Ruiz 2021a, Vaishnav and Labh 2023). More than 85% of this demographic is made up of six ethnic origins: Chinese (24%), Indian (21%), Filipino (19%), Vietnamese (10%), Korean (9%) and Japanese (7%) (Budiman and Ruiz 2021b). According to the Migration Policy Institute, migration from Asia rose sharply beginning in the 1970s after the termination of exclusionary and discriminatory immigration policy targeting those of Asian origin (Hanna and Batalova 2021). 73% of Asian Americans today have US citizenship, in comparison to 81% of Hispanics and 98% of non-Hispanic whites (Monte and Shin 2022, Moslimani 2023, Bloomberg Government 2022). Financially, Asian Americans fare better than the rest of the US with a median annual household income of \$85,000 in comparison to \$62,000, but there is a significant range by national origin spanning from \$44,000 to \$119,000 (Budiman and Ruiz 2021b).

Despite their recent and spectacular growth and visibility in the US in education, the work force and popular culture, Asian Americans are systemically underrepresented in legislatures and policymaking. While making up 5.6% of the national electorate, less than 1% of all elected officials identify as AAPI (Dugyala 2021). This underrepresentation not only slows down progress in the AAPI community due to a lack of support in key policy areas and understanding of cultural differences but can also be actively harmful. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Asian Americans, especially vulnerable populations such as women and the elderly,

faced verbal and/or violent acts of hate due to racism and xenophobia. From March of 2020 to 2021, activist organizations reported more than 6,500 hate crimes, with many more going unreported (Stop AAPI Hate 2021). It took Congress over a year after the beginning of the outbreak to act with the COVID-19 Hate Crimes Act (Sprunt 2021).

This severe underrepresentation and its consequences ultimately point to the need for Asian Americans to turn out and vote for candidates and policies in their own interests. In the 2020 presidential election, Asian American voter turnout reached record levels and saw the highest increase across all racial groups since 2016 thanks to unprecedented levels of focus on Asian voter rights advocacy, increased interest in politics due to anger against hate crimes from COVID-19 and the chance to vote for an Asian vice president. However, the AAPI turnout at 60% of the Citizen Voting Age Population (CVAP) still fell behind the overall turnout rate of 67% (Ramakrishnan 2021). This continued depression in AAPI voter turnout in comparison to other groups, despite all the signs of there being enthusiastic interest to participate by Asian Americans, alludes to the fact that there may be other factors, or barriers, at play.

The story of the AAPI electorate is deeply colored by immigration. The Pew Research Center states that "a majority of Asian American eligible voters are naturalized citizens, not US born citizens," signifying the dominance of immigrants making up the AAPI community (Budiman et al. 2024). Because so much of the electorate are older immigrants, language remains a significant obstacle, as one in four Asian American adults have limited English proficiency (LEP), making it difficult to access voting materials and fully engage in the political process (Ruiz et al. 2013).

Language access resources can be defined by preferred language ballots that LEP voters can request. An example of language as a barrier is the quantity and reason for registration and ballot rejections for voters who identify as AAPI. However, there are several "hidden" ways that language can prevent LEP or non-fluent voters from accessing the voting process. This study focuses on California because of its prominent Asian American population and provision of Asian language ballots. California has the highest number of Asian residents of any state in the US at 6 million people, or about 15% of the state's population (Budiman and Ruiz 2021b). They make up a sizable chunk of the electorate at 17%, in comparison to Latinos, who make up 35% of the population but 21% of the electorate (Baldassare et al. 2020). Because of Asian Americans proving themselves as a voting bloc of influence in California due to their size, there are also a sizable proportion of Asian LEP voters, leading to several Asian language ballots being provided in multiple counties throughout California.

This paper examines the questions: How do language ballot provision under Section 203 of the Voting Rights Act impact AAPI voter turnout in California elections from 2012-2022? I perform multiple linear regression by Asian national origin groups to determine the correlation between the provision of the group's language ballot and their associated turnout, organized at the county and year level. The study examines the six most populous Asian American groups: Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Filipino, Vietnamese and Indian; across six elections: 2012, 2014, 2016, 2018, 2020 and 2022. I run a variety of models for each regression, considering variables such as county and year fixed effects, weight of the registrant count and total turnout in that county of non-Asian voters.

We find that ballot provision has a null effect on most of the national origin groups. In the combined regression, we find that it has a negative correlation with statistical significance. I explain with a few reasons as to why these results may differ from the expected, such as the nature of LEP citizens and their voter behavior as well as data limitations. As the Asian American population and prominence in the United States continues to grow, studying their voting patterns and unlocking the AAPI vote is crucial for political parties and campaigns seeking to effectively engage this community. They are one of the fastest growing and diverse groups in the nation, and understanding their political participation is essential for a more comprehensive grasp on American democracy. This paper aims to add to the existing literature on the relatively less-researched topic of AAPI voting behavior from the comparative lens of one resource.

Literature Review

Voter Behavior Defined Through Identity

Though demographic is not a determination of one's voting probability, it is the exercise of the vote that will lead to political equality, and it is in the exercise of the vote that minority political power falls short (Fraga 2018). In *Who Votes Now? Demographics, Issues, Inequality, and Turnout in the United States* (2013), Jan Leighley and Jonathan Nagler evaluate national survey data from 1972 to 2008 and find, once again, a racial, class and age bias in who votes: minorities, the poor, and the young are less likely to turn out.

Minority voters, including Asian Americans, exhibit different voting patterns than observed in White non-Hispanic voters. Race becomes a salient factor of political motivation for voters of color and Asian Americans are also more likely to turn out to vote when a co-ethnic candidate is on the ballot (Chan et al. 2022, Fraga 2015). For both Latino and Asian voters, a perceived threat to their identity demographic inspires voters to turnout for the benefit, or protection, of the group (Jang 2009). Grander socioeconomic factors, such as systemic racisman example of which is long-standing discriminatory voter ID laws that disproportionately impact racial and ethnic minority voters-may be at the source of the altered voter behavior (Pryor et al. 2019). Minority voters are subject to "a cycle of undermobilization," caught in a self-fulfilling prophecy (Barreto 2018). A campaign chooses to focus on a group, they feel important and feel obligated or interested to show up at the polls, then campaigns during the next election will focus on them again because of their previous show of strength. The key point is that voter turnout for non-White Americans overall has been and continues to be substantially lower than that for Whites (Fraga 2018). Minorities story of struggle in the US results in varied social and cultural notions that bleed into their civic behavior.

Though it is a quickly growing field, literature on AAPI voter data is already difficult to come by with a few prominent scholars having authored much of the dominant literature. Asian Americans are fundamentally different from other minorities in the US, predominantly African Americans and Latinos. Asian Americans, unlike African Americans, are predominantly made up of recent immigrants to the US with LEP, making up more than 20% of the total LEP population in the US (Halder et al. 2023). Unlike African Americans who have presided in the country for more than 250 years and are native to the history, culture, and makeup of America in every sense, Asian Americans are more commonly viewed as foreigners and different. They are also different from Latinos, with whom they share the title of "immigrant." Though both ethnic minorities bear the hardships of mass migration to the US and struggle with language barriers in the political process, Asian Americans are a trickier demographic to tap into because of the diverse ethnic representation within the title "Asian American." While Latino Americans also hail from a variety of diverse ethnicities, nearly three out of four speak Spanish as their dominant language, made possible by the fact that Spanish is spoken widely amongst different nations in Latin America, transcending state lines (Mora and Lopez 2023). This far outpaces Mandarin, the most widely spoken Asian language in the US, because languages in Asia more varied and as a group, Asian Americans speak hundreds of different languages. Because of their current size and relatively short history in the US, literature on AAPI in the civic process is lacking.

Because of the litany of subgroups in the category of AAPI, this demographic boasts a wide variety of voting behavior. It can depend on ethnic identity, with Japanese Americans being the most likely to civically participate than their peers while Korean Americans were the least likely (Lien 2004). Vietnamese Americans were most likely to vote, even though they are not the recipients of campaigning from political parties and are less resourced than Chinese or Korean

Americans (Masuoka et al. 2019). Counties with a more diverse AAPI population, defined by a higher proportion of interracial marriages and a diverse mix of minorities that fall into the umbrella that is "Asian American," was found to produce higher voter turnout (Diaz 2012). Young people, though granted birthright citizenship because many are second generation Asian Americans, were not more likely to vote than their immigrant parents (Masuoka et al. 2019). This could perhaps be explained by the cultural implications of the model minority myth, which harmfully stereotypes Asian Americans as a group that is uninvolved in politics. Interestingly, noting that Chinese and Vietnamese Americans have faced more stringent exclusion from American society, students of this descent were more likely to participate in nontraditional methods of civic engagement (Wray-Lake et al. 2017). Because of the diversity of ethnic groups and cultures within the AAPI community, it becomes even more crucial to understand the interconnectedness between the demographics to most effectively reach the electorate.

Literature continues to highlight language as an impactful factor in determining AAPI voting behavior. Asian Americans speak more than 15 different languages spread across the two coasts, with nearly a third of all Asian Americans residing in California alone (Budiman and Ruiz 2021b). By the mid-21st century, Asian Americans are expected to make up more than 45 million of the US population and projected to surpass Latinos as the largest immigrant group in the country (Budiman and Ruiz 2021a). Because of the overwhelming immigrant influence, 43% of foreign-born Asian Americans reported LEP, including non-citizens, making language a clear barrier to every part of the political process (Budiman and Ruiz 2021b). Asian would-be voters understandably feel disconnected from the political atmosphere and choose not to vote not because they do not care, but because they do not have access to campaign information that they can comprehend, so they are unable to determine their preferred candidate (Nguyen 2022).

Former Asian Americans Advancing Justice-Atlanta (AAAJ-A) Executive Director Phi Nguyen discussed her experience with voters, recollecting that because of the lack of political materials in voters' preferred languages, some did not know the difference between candidates Donald Trump and Hilary Clinton during the 2016 general election. Campaign tactics that attempt to minimize the language barrier typically are the most effective, especially phone banking individual voters in their preferred language, which is typically carried out by AAPI grassroots organizations (Bedolla and Michelson 2009). Because of their diversity in language and cultures, AAPI voters require focused campaign tactics.

Key Legislation at the Federal and State Level

Because language is such a key obstacle at every step of the voting process, the implementation of progressive legislation such as the Voting Rights Act (VRA) can increase AAPI voter turnout (Fraga and Merseth 2016). This 2016 paper finds that increased resources and progressive policies should increase voter turnout for disenfranchised voters. Enacted in 1965 by President Lyndon B. Johnson during the height of the Civil Rights Movement, the VRA targets discrimination at the polling place and elections process based on race. The Congressional Research Service deems it "perhaps the country's most important voting rights law, with a history that dates back to the Civil War" (Congressional Research Service 2015). It outlaws explicit and implicit methods of racial voter disenfranchisement with historical precedent, such as literacy tests. The VRA was challenged through *Shelby County, Alabama v. Holder* (2013) where the US Supreme Court struck down Section 4 of the VRA, leaving Section 5 also inoperable. The plaintiffs successfully argued that the VRA and Congress were infringing on states' rights, meaning that highlighted areas with a history of voting discrimination would no

longer require a clearance with the Attorney General or US District Court of Columbia to make changes to their election codes (Congressional Research Service 2015). Although a landmark bill, the VRA is constantly tested through new constitutional challenges that threaten to undermine voting equity.

Language ballots, official ballots translated into the voter's preferred language other than English, are a primary focus. Section 203 of the VRA is the "keystone" of language access for LEP Americans (U.S. Department of Justice 2023b). It was added as an amendment to the VRA in 1975 with an aim to expand the political process to citizens of language minorities have been discriminated against by "various practices and procedures" (U.S. Department of Justice 2023b). In 2006, Congress voted to reauthorize Section 203 until 2032. Section 203 of the VRA denotes that when a jurisdiction—mostly at the county level but sometimes at the township or municipality level—has a LEP population of more than 10,000 people or 5% of the total CVAP, the jurisdiction is covered by Section 203 and must provide a language ballot, along with other assistive voter material in the preferred language (U.S. Department of Justice 2023a). The determinations are made every five years, with the most recent determinations made in 2021, and the primary data source is the American Community Survey, conducted by the Census Bureau (Redistricting & Voting Rights Data Office 2022). The organization defines LEP voters as those "who are unable to speak or understand English adequately enough to participate in the electoral process" (Redistricting & Voting Rights Data Office 2022). This LEP population must be members of a single language minority group and have depressed literacy rates where "the rate of total voting age citizens who are LEP and have less than a fifth-grade education is higher than the national rate" (U.S. Department of Justice 2023b, Redistricting & Voting Rights Data Office 2022).

Currently, coverage is only provided in Asian, Spanish, Alaskan Native and Native American languages, leaving out Arabic and Haitian Creole languages. The Census Bureau stated that they use racial and ethnic data as a proxy for which groups speak the languages that need coverage (Wang 2022b). People who speak Arabic are classified by their race, where standards define people with origins in the Middle East as white (Wang 2022b). Haitian Creole is categorized as an Indo-European language, so its speakers are not within the protected language minority group (Wang 2022b). Section 203 also fails to distinguish amongst the variety of languages spoken in one country and instead groups them all into one language; for example, India hails over 700 languages but because Section 203 groups together voters by their country of origin, those who identify as Asian Indian counts toward coverage for a singular Asian Indian language, where most counties identify as Hindi. Language ballots are a key focus of this paper because they are a primary language resource essential in the political process for LEP voters.

After the passage of Section 203 in the VRA, California adopted their own language provisions that furthered access to LEP voters in 1994 (California Elections Code 1994). Instead of the 5% in a jurisdiction as stated in Section 203, California's Election Code 14201 lowered the threshold to 3% of an LEP population in a jurisdiction, in this case at the precinct level, to qualify for coverage. The determinations are made by January 1st of each year there is a gubernatorial election in the state (California Secretary of State 2021). The most recent determinations were made on December 31, 2021, effective for elections starting in 2022 (California Secretary of State 2021). Not only does California expand access by lowering the threshold required to receive language materials, but it also provides a larger variety of languages that can be covered. Code 14201 removes the VRA Section 203's focus on only

Asian, Hispanic, Alaskan Native and Native American languages, and instead any language can be covered if it meets the coverage formula set in the code.

The California Voting Rights Act (CVRA) was passed in 2001 by Governor Gray Davis to expand voting rights under the federal Voting Rights Act. Codified as California Elections Code §§ 14026-14032, the CVRA addresses the issue of vote dilution and discrimination against communities of voters through institutional barriers. Specifically, it was designed to tackle the inconsistency between the rising population of Latino and Asian voters in the state but stagnant minority representation in local government (Powell 2018, California Latino Legislative Caucus 2015). The legislation was supported by civil rights and voter advocacy organizations such as the American Civil Liberties Union. In 2016, the legislature passed an amendment to Section 10010, enacting a 45-day "safe harbor" period to protect plaintiffs from further lawsuits during the period immediately after they receive a letter declaring the original case. California's District Courts have defended the CVRA as constitutional through *Sanchez v. City of Modesto* (2006), striking down arguments that the act was discriminatory because it favored minority voters.

Studies of Interest

Though the positive impacts of language ballots on minority LEP voters may seem inherent or obvious, research shows mixed results of increases in voter turnout. For Latino voters, a study showed that monolingual English ballots increased voter turnout more than bilingual Spanish material in all 3 locations of New Jersey, North Carolina, and Virginia; "Across our three experiments, the increase in turnout caused by the English mailings is 35%–70% larger than the increase caused by the bilingual mailings" (Mann, Michelson, and Davis 2020). The study argues this may be due to the demographic/region the ballots were used used

and how it may be received by the voters as pandering, seeing English as more official, feeling that they're being condescended or shamed in assumption of need of bilingual material. The Mann, Michelson and Davis paper differs from this study because it assumes a causal relationship between the bilingual ballot and turnout due to its format as a field experiment.

One 2005 study that focuses on Asian American voters showed that the estimated increase in turnout in counties with bilingual ballots ranged from 1.8% to 3.5%, but never near statistical significance" (Jones-Correa 2005). The variety of factors that are involved in measuring voter turnout complicates the ability to study the true effect of a single ballot.

Fraga and Merseth find that progressive legislation, specifically the VRA, significantly increased coverage for Latino and Asian voters, the two groups with the most significant language barriers. Because "voting is often characterized as a 'costly' activity at the individual level," alleviating these costs on the burden of the government should increase turnout (Fraga and Merseth 2016). The paper found that the language provisions in the VRA increased coverage so that one in three voting eligible Asian Americans lived in such covered area. "We continue to see a substantial, though attenuated, 15 percentage point increase in Asian American turnout" (Fraga and Merseth 2016). Residing in a covered jurisdiction increases resources and removes barriers to registration and voting, thus increasing turnout. The study also points to a discrepancy in voting behavior under the provisions between Latinos and Asian Americans, finding "no effect" for Latinos, but "significantly higher turnout among Asian American registrants from covered language groups" (Fraga and Merseth 2016). This finding could differ from the Mann, Michelson and Davis paper in that the causal negative relationship found by Mann, Michelson and Davis may not apply to Asian American voters. Recent literature on the effect of language ballots on AAPI voters is extremely limited. Additional purposes of this paper are to shed light

on the specific language resources and policies that can most effectively unlock access to the Asian American vote.

Theoretical Argument

It is a foundation of American political science that most people are predisposed to vote. Richard A. Brody found in 1978 through a survey that an overwhelming majority of Americans, around 90% of them, considered voting a duty and would vote even if they predicted their candidate to lose (Brody 1978). Then why don't all elections get 90% turnout? That's because aside from personal interest, voters also need resources and information to remove obstacles to voting.

Resource Theory

Resources can incentivize or remove obstacles to voting, encouraging higher turnout. Research shows that voter turnout depends heavily on obstacles to voters, such as registration laws, polling place hours and poll taxes (Wolfinger and Rosenstone 1980). Increasing poll hours and removing poll taxes are both ways that minority voter turnout can be encouraged. Traditionally, minority voters tend to be from lower socioeconomic status than white voters, with the barriers of standard daytime working hours preventing them from being able to vote in person until after their workday is over and inability or unwillingness to pay additional poll taxes (Filer et al. 1991).

Henry E. Brady's resource model of political participation "demonstrates that motivations such as interest in politics are not enough to explain political participation. The resources of time, money, and skills are also powerful predictors of political participation in America" (Brady et al. 1995). The more resources that voters receive, especially underserved voters, the more of a difference it makes in opening the channels to voting for them. Fiscal expenditures from campaigns and government agencies to gives them the benefits to show up at the polls.

Information Theory

Research also shows that voters are more likely to turn out when they have more information about the elections process and the candidates. In 1987, Thomas Palfrey and Keith T. Poole found a positive correlation between the amount of information a person had and their probability of voting in the 1980 presidential election (Palfrey and Poole 1987).

The underlying psychology behind information theory, apart from the fact that it aids voters to know when and where to show up at the polls, is that it gives them the confidence that they are making the best decision for themselves. In John G. Matsusaka's 1995 model, "people who end up with too little information to determine which candidate to vote for are more likely to abstain—rather than cast an ignorant vote, they do not vote at all" (Matsusaka 1995). Major political candidates at the top of the ballot, such as the president and vice president positions, receive more votes than the more obscure positions at the bottom of the ballot. The trend continues as in 2016, more than 30% of voters nationwide did not complete their ballot at all and even for candidates competing in the same election, those listed at the top of the list are likely to receive 5% more than their counterparts who are listed merely rows lower (Axelrod and Murphy 2016). "The key link is that a person's expected benefit from casting a decisive vote is increasing in her certainty that she is supporting the best candidate. As a result, the person is more likely to vote as she becomes ore sure about which way to vote. Confidence in a voting decision is increased by raw information about the candidates and knowledge about the model of the world.

Thus, as the price of information falls and knowledge rises, a person's probability of voting goes up" (Matsusaka 1995).

Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1: The presence of a Mandarin language ballot is correlated with an increase in Chinese voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 2: The presence of a Japanese language ballot is correlated with an increase in Japanese voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 3: The presence of a Korean language ballot is correlated with an increase in Korean voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 4: The presence of a Tagalog language ballot is correlated with an increase in Filipino voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 5: The presence of a Vietnamese language ballot is correlated with an increase in Vietnamese voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 5: The presence of a Vietnamese language ballot is correlated with an increase in Vietnamese voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 6: The presence of a Hindi language ballot is correlated with an increase in Indian voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage. Hypothesis 7: The presence of a Asian language ballot is correlated with an increase in Indian voter turnout in that county in comparison to counties that do not receive coverage.

Data

The study requires two types of data: voter turnout for Asian ethnicities and language ballot provision for Asian languages during elections of interest.

Voter Turnout Data

I downloaded data from the California Statewide Database. This data is provided from the State of California through California county registrar of voters and county clerk offices that give information at the precinct level for both primary and general elections. Though there were other sources of data, I chose the California Statewide Database because it is compiled directly from state government registration files and is the source for the language ballot data used later.

From the "VOTE" section on the website, the data is in the form of a CSV file and provides the registration statistics for all registered voters in that precinct who voted, combining absentee and Election Day voters. From the "Registration" section, the data is in the form of a CSV file and provides the registration statistic for all citizens in that precinct who are registered. I downloaded data files for voters from the 2022, 2020, 2018, 2016, 2014 and 2012 general elections because it encompasses the six most recent elections and three iterations of Section 203 determinations.

Each data file, two for each election, gives voters' racial, ethnic and party identities by precinct. Amongst a variety of party and racial identification, 24 columns are of interest for this study. There are six Asian ethnicities recorded in the dataset and these are also the six most populous Asian ethnicities represented in Asian Americans: Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Filipino, Vietnamese and Indian. For each ethnicity, there are four party identifications: Democrat, Republican, Other and Declined to Answer. The Statewide Database uses surname matching to identify Asian voters by national origin. They utilize the surname dictionary outlined in "Asian American ethnic identification by surname" by Diane S. Lauderdale and Bert Kestenbaum, published in 2000. There is a one-to-one ethnic identity match by surname using this dictionary, meaning that residents are placed in exactly one Asian ethnic minority if they fit the surname. The Statewide Database only provides voter and registrant information for the six most populous Asian ethnicities, who make up nearly 85% of the Asian American population in the US when combined (Budiman and Ruiz 2021b).

To prepare the data, I used R. I downloaded the VOTE data for one election year into R, then created a total vote count in each precinct for each of six ethnicities of interest, titled "ChiVote" for the total count of Chinese voters in that precinct, "JPNVote" for the total count of Japanese voters in that precinct, "KorVote" for the total count of Korean voters in that precinct, "FilVote" for the total count of Filipino voters in that precinct, "VietVote" for the total count of Vietnamese voters in that precinct and "IndVote" for the total count of Indian voters in that precinct. I also created an "ESAVoteTotal" that combined the total vote count of the six Asian ethnicities and a "HispVote" for the total count of Hispanic voters as a comparison. I then downloaded the Registration data for the same election year into R, and repeated the process above, except with total registrants. I created six columns that represented the total count of registrants for each Asian ethnicity at the precinct level titled "ChiReg", "JPNReg", "KorReg", "FilReg", "VietReg", "IndReg" and also a "ESARegTotal" that sums the previous six columns for the total count of registrants from each precinct who have an Asian national origin. I merged both datasets up to the county level, then merged them together by county FIPS code. Finally, I created voter turnout rates by dividing the voter count and registrant counts for each respective ethnicity/racial grouping. The numerator is the count of voters who voted ("ChiVote") and the

denominator is the count of voters who were registered ("ChiReg") to create the percentage of voter turnout in that group ("ChiVoterPct"). Typically, voter turnout is calculated as the percentage of voters who turn out to vote from a larger CVAP group. Because of varying sources on CVAP numbers for Asian American populations and the fact that California's automatic voter registration system captures most eligible citizens, I use the registrant number to calculate the voter turnout.

Language Ballot Data

I downloaded data from the US Census Bureau. The file is titled "Section203_Comparisons_2021" and provides a side-by-side comparison of the counties in every state that gained a minority language ballot every time the Section 203 determinations were made in December of 2002, 2011, 2016 and 2021. This means that under the federal VRA, these counties met the 5% LEP voter population requirement and therefore a language ballot is provided for that language minority throughout the county. The 2011 determination provided coverage for elections in 2012, 2014 and 2016, the 2016 determination provided coverage for elections in 2018 and 2020, and the 2021 determination provided coverage for the 2022 election (and will also provide coverage for elections in 2024 and 2026). The data for Section 203 is provided by the American Community Survey conducted by the US Census Bureau.

From the PDF file, I created an Excel file that focuses on just the counties in California that gained an Asian language ballot. This file had four columns: county FIPS code, county name, election year and Asian language covered by Section 203. This Excel file only contained counties that had coverage for any Asian language—counties that did not meet the requirement

and therefore did not receive coverage were excluded. Below is an organization of the Section

203 Determinations file.

Figure 1: Section 203 Asian Language Provisions

County	Languages	Election Years
Alameda	Chinese, Filipino,	2022, 2020, 2018, 2016,
	Vietnamese	2014, 2012
Contra Costa	Chinese	2022, 2020, 2018
Los Angeles	Cambodian (omitted),	2022, 2020, 2018
	Chinese, Filipino, Korean,	
	Vietnamese	
Los Angeles	Indian, Chinese, Filipino,	2016, 2014, 2012
	Japanese, Korean,	
	Vietnamese, Other Asian	
	language (omitted)	
Orange	Chinese, Korean, Vietnamese	2022, 2020, 2018, 2016,
		2014, 2012
Sacramento	Chinese, Vietnamese	2022
Sacramento	Chinese	2020, 2018 2016, 2014, 2012
San Diego	Chinese, Filipino,	2022, 2020, 2018, 2016,
	Vietnamese	2014, 2012

San Francisco	Chinese	2022, 2020, 2018, 2016,
		2014, 2012
San Mateo	Chinese, Filipino	2022
San Mateo	Chinese	2020, 2018, 2016, 2014, 2012
Santa Clara	Chinese, Filipino,	2022, 2020, 2018, 2016,
	Vietnamese	2014, 2012

From this master Excel file that contained the covered counties for each election year, I created election-specific Excel files for all counties in California that denoted, in binary form, whether the county covered languages from each of the six Asian national origins identified in the Statewide Database files. If the county covered the Chinese language ballot, for instance, then it was coded as 1 for that variable. I matched a FIPS code to each of these counties, then merged this dataset with the Statewide Database for each election year. After I had the combined dataset for each election year containing the voter turnout rates for Asian ethnicities by county and whether the county was covered by Section 203 in each language, I combined the years to create a large dataset for all elections from 2012-2022.

Because the language ballot data is pulled from the US Census, it does not capture the exact languages that voters speak, but rather projects based on their national origin. For example, even though there are at least three distinct languages (Mandarin, Taiwanese, Cantonese) and a variety of dialects spoken in China and by people of Chinese descent, anyone who identifies as LEP and denotes their national origin as China will be counted under provision for the Chinese language ballot. Hence, we can view the language ballot provision as providing assistance to

people who are LEP from a certain national origin, not always a 100% match for the language that they speak. Additionally, starting in 2016, the US Census "Section203_Comparisons_201" file began to denote that Taiwanese was included in the Chinese coverage. Previously, Taiwanese was not mentioned in the distinction, but the Census Bureau had continued to include them. In my code, I denote Taiwanese and Chinese in the same group, consistent to the determinations made by the Census Bureau. Every Asian national origin group covered in Section 203 for California is also denoted in the Statewide Database except where Cambodian, typically speaking Khmer, was covered in Los Angeles County. For the purposes of this study, I will omit Cambodian from the because it is not possible to study their voter turnout due to the fact that the national origin group is not represented in the Statewide Database.

Research Design

This paper studies the correlation between the provision of institutional resources such as language ballots and Asian voter turnout. Section 203 of the Voting Rights Act stating that if a precinct has at least five percent of residents in a jurisdiction, in most cases at the county level, who are members of a single language minority and are limited English proficient, then the jurisdiction must provide a translated ballot in that minority language. This means that every five years as the Section 203 determinations are made, there are counties that lose and gain language ballots for different languages. I want to compare counties by election as they gain or lose access to language ballots and test for its correlation on the corresponding group's voter turnout.

To test this comparison of voter turnout for Asian national origin between covered and non-covered counties, I will be working with panel data for voter behavior and conducting a simple and multiple linear regression analysis. The dependent variable would be the Asian national origin group's voter turnout rate (numerical), and the independent variable would be the provision of the corresponding language ballot (binary). The null hypothesis is that the presence of the language ballot is not correlated with voter turnout for that national origin group in that county, meaning that the coefficient on providing the ballot is 0. The alternative hypothesis is that the presence of the language ballot is correlated with voter turnout for that national origin group in that county, meaning that the coefficient is not 0. The turnout rate for each group and the total turnout rates are both in the form of a percentage. The total turnout rate excludes the corresponding national origin group tested in the regression to avoid this group from being "double counted."

I conduct the model on each national origin group individually using a data frame that is grouped by year and county, then on all national origin groups combined using a data frame that is grouped by year, county and national origin group for a total of seven linear regression models. There was no need to use the logarithmic for the dependent variable because it was already scaled at the percentage between 0 and 1.

The regression equations are as follows:

Model 1: TurnoutRate_group = Intercept + B_1 * Coverage_group + Error

Model 1 is the simple linear regression at its most basic form.

Model 2: TurnoutRate_group = Intercept + B_1 * Coverage_group + Registrant Weight + Error

In Model 2, I control for population differences by national origin between counties by weighting the number of registrants in each national origin group. This is because there are some counties with 0 registrants in a certain Asian national origin, resulting in the voter turnout percentage for that national origin in that county to be NA. Furthermore, if there are 0 voters from the national origin, it is unreasonable to weight for the correlation of the corresponding language ballot since the county would not be in consideration for coverage based on the Census Bureau.

Model 3: TurnoutRate_group = Intercept + B_1 * Coverage_group + Registrant Weight + County FE + Error

Fixed effects is an econometrics technique that controls for variables that are constant within a larger variable (Huntington-Klein 2021). This method is especially useful because it can control for both observed and unobserved variables to help capture confounding variables that may not be possible for me to explicitly control. I apply fixed effects at the county level to control for changes in ballot provision for each county over time. This means that if a county was to lose or gain a ballot over time, the fixed effect will be able to control for the unobserved variables associated with this change in Section 203 provision. I use the FIPS code to delineate by county.

Model 4: TurnoutRate_group = Intercept + B_1 * Coverage_group + B_2 * Total

Turnout + Registrant Weight + County FE + Error

In Model 4, I also control for total voter turnout in that county. This variable includes all races, except for the Asian national origin group that is being tested in the regression to prevent this group from being "double counted." Adding the total voter turnout independent variable is crucial because it can help capture factors that impact voter turnout in that county overall, such as socioeconomic status and education levels.

Model 5: TurnoutRate_group = Intercept + $B_1 * Coverage_group + B_2 * Total$

Turnout + Registrant Weight + County FE + Year FE + Error

The election year fixed effect helps control for variations in between elections that may be otherwise explained, such as the fact that presidential elections naturally garner more attention and receive higher turnout, and both are tested in the same regression.

Model 6: TurnoutRate_group = Intercept + B_1 * Coverage_group + B_2 * Total

Turnout + County FE + Year FE + Error

I will also conduct a regression without the weight of the registration pool to account for the compounding effect that disproportionately huge counties, such as Los Angeles County, may have in driving the coefficient in a certain direction.

Results

Using the methods provided in the research design, I created seven models of linear regression to test for the correlation between the provision of the Asian national origin group's ballot and their turnout.

Figure 2 shows the regression results of the correlation of the provision of the Mandarin language ballot to the Chinese voter turnout. The adjusted R-squared increases dramatically with the inclusion of the total turnout and is the highest in Model 5 with the year fixed effect, indicating that including these variables "improved the model more than would be expected by chance" (Potters 2023). Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. Though the coefficient shows that the provision of the Mandarin ballot had a negative correlation with Chinese voter turnout by -0.2%, the result is not statistically significant with p > 0.1. We fail to reject the null hypothesis and can determine that the Mandarin ballot has no correlation to Chinese voter turnout at any level of significance.

When we consider Model 6 where the weight of the county's registrant size is not taken into account, we see a positive correlation that is still statistically insignificant. We notice in fact that none of the coefficients for the provision of the Mandarin ballot were statistically significant, thought they were mostly positive. The total turnout variable was statistically significant which means that the total turnout variable explained the Chinese voter turnout rate more than is explainable by chance.

Figure 2: Chinese Voter Turnout Regression

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
(Intercept)	0.609***	0.589***	0.572***	-0.125***	-0.116**	-0.166+

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
	(0.009)	(0.025)	(0.094)	(0.022)	(0.035)	(0.091)
Mandarin Ballot	0.010	0.009	0.027	0.027	-0.002	0.019
	(0.024)	(0.026)	(0.090)	(0.019)	(0.011)	(0.050)
Total Turnout				1.060***	1.025***	1.112***
				(0.013)	(0.045)	(0.099)
Num.Obs.	348	348	348	348	348	348
R2	0.000	0.000	0.200	0.965	0.989	0.879
R2 Adj.	-0.002	-0.003	0.039	0.957	0.987	0.852
AIC	-293.6	689.2	725.8	-358.0	-763.0	-902.5
BIC	-282.0	700.8	957.0	-123.0	-508.7	-648.3
Log.Lik.	149.797	-341.618	-302.922	240.004	447.487	517.256
F	0.171	0.129	1.243	133.284	407.989	32.136
RMSE	0.16	0.16	0.13	0.06	0.06	0.05
Weighted	-	х	х	х	х	-
County FE	-	-	Х	Х	Х	Х
Year FE	-	-	-	-	Х	Х

+ p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001

Figure 3 shows the regression results of the correlation of the provision of the Japanese language ballot to the Japanese voter turnout. Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. The coefficient shows that the provision of the Japanese ballot had a negative correlation with Japanese voter turnout by -0.7% and the result is statistically significant with 0.05 . Even more interesting is that in Model 4, without the year fixed effect, the model is extremely statistically significant at <math>p < 0.01 and shows an even larger negative correlation at -2.9%. Here, we reject the null hypothesis and state that Japanese ballots do have a correlation to Japanese voter turnout and that the correlation is negative at the 10% significance level. In a consistent trend, all of the correlation values are negative, regardless of their significance.

(0.009) (0.007) (0.031) (0.007) (0.024) (0.121) Japanese Ballot -0.105 -0.108*** -0.063** -0.029*** -0.007* -0.012 (0.096) (0.017) (0.023) (0.003) (0.003) (0.081) Total Turnout							
(0.009) (0.007) (0.031) (0.007) (0.024) (0.121) Japanese Ballot -0.105 -0.108*** -0.063** -0.029*** -0.007* -0.012 (0.096) (0.017) (0.023) (0.003) (0.003) (0.081) Total Turnout		Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Japanese Ballot-0.105-0.108***-0.063**-0.029***-0.007*-0.012(0.096)(0.017)(0.023)(0.003)(0.003)(0.081)Total Turnout	(Intercept)	0.726***	0.730***	0.745***	0.180***	0.190***	0.258*
Ballot-0.105-0.108-0.063-0.029-0.007-0.012(0.096)(0.017)(0.023)(0.003)(0.003)(0.081)Total Turnout		(0.009)	(0.007)	(0.031)	(0.007)	(0.024)	(0.121)
Total Turnout0.865***0.833***0.776***Num.Obs.348348348348348348R20.0030.1010.1830.9830.9910.718R2 Adj.0.0010.0980.0190.9800.9890.654AIC-257.7305.4386.0-962.9-1167.8-571.0BIC-246.1317.0617.1-727.9-913.6-316.7Log.Lik.131.853-149.699-132.999542.425649.916351.495F1.18038.6791.115284.898482.46011.256	Japanese Ballot	-0.105	-0.108***	-0.063**	-0.029***	-0.007*	-0.012
Turnout 0.865*** 0.833*** 0.776*** Num.Obs. 348 348 348 348 348 348 R2 0.003 0.101 0.183 0.983 0.991 0.718 R2 Adj. 0.001 0.098 0.019 0.980 0.989 0.654 AIC -257.7 305.4 386.0 -962.9 -1167.8 -571.0 BIC -246.1 317.0 617.1 -727.9 -913.6 -316.7 Log.Lik. 131.853 -149.699 -132.999 542.425 649.916 351.495 = 1.180 38.679 1.115 284.898 482.460 11.256		(0.096)	(0.017)	(0.023)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.081)
Num.Obs.348348348348348348348R20.0030.1010.1830.9830.9910.718R2 Adj.0.0010.0980.0190.9800.9890.654AIC-257.7305.4386.0-962.9-1167.8-571.0BIC-246.1317.0617.1-727.9-913.6-316.7Log.Lik.131.853-149.699-132.999542.425649.916351.495=1.18038.6791.115284.898482.46011.256	Total Turnout				0.865***	0.833***	0.776***
R20.0030.1010.1830.9830.9910.718R2 Adj.0.0010.0980.0190.9800.9890.654AIC-257.7305.4386.0-962.9-1167.8-571.0BIC-246.1317.0617.1-727.9-913.6-316.7Log.Lik.131.853-149.699-132.999542.425649.916351.495F1.18038.6791.115284.898482.46011.256					(0.007)	(0.033)	(0.160)
R2 Adj.0.0010.0980.0190.9800.9890.654AIC-257.7305.4386.0-962.9-1167.8-571.0BIC-246.1317.0617.1-727.9-913.6-316.7Log.Lik.131.853-149.699-132.999542.425649.916351.495=1.18038.6791.115284.898482.46011.256	Num.Obs.	348	348	348	348	348	348
AIC -257.7 305.4 386.0 -962.9 -1167.8 -571.0 BIC -246.1 317.0 617.1 -727.9 -913.6 -316.7 Log.Lik. 131.853 -149.699 -132.999 542.425 649.916 351.495 = 1.180 38.679 1.115 284.898 482.460 11.256	R2	0.003	0.101	0.183	0.983	0.991	0.718
BIC-246.1317.0617.1-727.9-913.6-316.7Log.Lik.131.853-149.699-132.999542.425649.916351.495=1.18038.6791.115284.898482.46011.256	R2 Adj.	0.001	0.098	0.019	0.980	0.989	0.654
_og.Lik. 131.853 -149.699 -132.999 542.425 649.916 351.495 = 1.180 38.679 1.115 284.898 482.460 11.256	AIC	-257.7	305.4	386.0	-962.9	-1167.8	-571.0
= 1.180 38.679 1.115 284.898 482.460 11.256	BIC	-246.1	317.0	617.1	-727.9	-913.6	-316.7
	Log.Lik.	131.853	-149.699	-132.999	542.425	649.916	351.495
RMSE 0.17 0.17 0.13 0.09 0.09 0.09	F	1.180	38.679	1.115	284.898	482.460	11.256
	RMSE	0.17	0.17	0.13	0.09	0.09	0.09

Figure 3: Japanese Voter Turnout Regression
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Weighted	-	Х	х	х	х	-
County FE	-	-	х	х	х	Х
Year FE	-	-	-	-	х	х

Figure 4 shows the regression results of the correlation of the provision of the Korean language ballot to the Korean voter turnout. Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. The coefficient shows that the provision of the Korean ballot had a negative correlation with Korean voter turnout by -0.6% and the result is not statistically significant with p > 0.1. Similar to the Chinese voter turnout regression, the Korean ballot did not significantly correlate with Korean voter turnout. Here, we fail to reject the null hypothesis and state that Korean ballots do not have a correlation to Korean voter turnout. We also notice that the number of observations is lower than in the previous two regressions at 343 observations in comparison to 348, indicating that there were five counties without any Korean registrants from all election years that were excluded from the regression. A survey of the data confirms this.

T. 4	T 7	T T .	T ·	D '
	· K oroon	Votor	1 11 mm O lit	Regression
FIGHTE 4	КОНЧИН	VOIEL	1 1 1 1 1 1 () 1 1 1	RECIESSION

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
(Intercept)	0.613***	0.576***	0.548***	-0.139***	-0.071+	-0.058
	(0.011)	(0.014)	(0.040)	(0.015)	(0.042)	(0.132)
Korean Ballot	-0.110+	-0.083***	0.009	-0.008	-0.006	-0.004

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
	(0.057)	(0.018)	(0.045)	(0.012)	(0.006)	(0.057)
Total Turnout				1.048***	0.874***	0.896***
				(0.017)	(0.057)	(0.175)
Num.Obs.	343	343	343	343	343	343
R2	0.011	0.062	0.139	0.940	0.984	0.790
R2 Adj.	0.008	0.059	-0.033	0.928	0.981	0.743
AIC	-149.8	753.5	835.8	-76.8	-527.0	-558.0
BIC	-138.3	765.1	1062.2	153.5	-277.6	-308.5
Log.Lik.	77.895	-373.769	-358.894	98.402	328.509	343.992
F	3.764	22.352				
RMSE	0.19	0.20	0.16	0.09	0.09	0.09
Weighted	-	Х	х	Х	Х	-
County FE	-	-	Х	х	х	Х
Year FE	-	-	-	-	Х	Х

Figure 5 shows the regression results of the correlation of the provision of the Tagalog language ballot to the Filipino voter turnout. Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. The coefficient shows that the provision of the Tagalog ballot had a negative correlation with Filipino voter turnout by -1% and the result is statistically significant at p < 0.1. We reject the null hypothesis and state that Tagalog ballots do

have a correlation to Filipino voter turnout and that it has a negative correlation at the 10% significance level.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
(Intercept)	0.631***	0.602***	0.729***	-0.176***	-0.067**	-0.151
	(0.009)	(0.012)	(0.076)	(0.009)	(0.021)	(0.103)
Tagalog Ballot	-0.055	-0.043*	-0.134*	0.001	-0.010*	-0.014
	(0.034)	(0.017)	(0.066)	(0.006)	(0.004)	(0.054)
Total Turnout				1.173***	1.023***	1.143***
				(0.006)	(0.028)	(0.113)
Num.Obs.	348	348	348	348	348	348
R2	0.008	0.017	0.099	0.992	0.996	0.849
R2 Adj.	0.005	0.014	-0.081	0.991	0.996	0.815
AIC	-284.0	427.5	511.0	-1150.2	-1398.1	-814.1
BIC	-272.4	439.0	742.1	-915.2	-1143.9	-559.8
Log.Lik.	144.999	-210.728	-195.506	636.107	765.053	473.038
F	2.667	6.039	0.550	640.342	1221.938	24.935
RMSE	0.16	0.16	0.15	0.07	0.07	0.06
Weighted	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	-
County FE	-	-	х	х	х	x
Year FE	-	-	-	-	Х	Х

Figure 5: Filipino Voter Turnout Regression

Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
+ p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, **	p < 0.01, ***				

Figure 6 shows the regression results of the correlation of the provision of the Vietnamese language ballot to the Vietnamese voter turnout. Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. The coefficient shows that the provision of the Vietnamese ballot had a negative correlation with Vietnamese voter turnout by - 1.5% and the result is not statistically significant at p > 0.1. We fail to reject the null hypothesis and state that Vietnamese ballots do not have a correlation to Vietnamese voter turnout at any significance level. Similar to the regression on Korean voters, there were fewer observations in the dataset given that there were some counties with 0 Vietnamese registrants.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
(Intercept)	0.551***	0.556***	0.656***	-0.178***	-0.180***	-0.222
	(0.011)	(0.021)	(0.082)	(0.027)	(0.048)	(0.177)
Vietnamese Ballot	-0.006	0.015	-0.129+	0.001	-0.015	0.014
	(0.037)	(0.023)	(0.073)	(0.021)	(0.012)	(0.087)
Total Turnout				1.073***	1.043***	1.122***
				(0.019)	(0.065)	(0.202)
Num.Obs.	330	330	330	330	330	330
R2	0.000	0.001	0.141	0.933	0.977	0.732

Figure 6: Vietnamese Voter Turnout Regression

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
R2 Adj.	-0.003	-0.002	-0.035	0.918	0.972	0.670
AIC	-143.5	820.4	880.5	42.9	-302.4	-455.9
BIC	-132.1	831.8	1100.9	267.0	-59.3	-212.8
Log.Lik.	74.755	-407.188	-382.267	37.557	215.213	291.957
F	0.023	0.427	0.802	66.001	183.150	11.757
RMSE	0.19	0.19	0.17	0.10	0.11	0.10
Weighted	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	
County FE	-	-	Х	Х	Х	Х
Year FE	-	-	-	-	Х	х

Figure 7 shows the regression results of the correlation of the provision of the Hindi language ballot to the Indian voter turnout. Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. The coefficient shows that the provision of the Hindi ballot had a negative correlation with Indian voter turnout by -2.7% and the result is extremely statistically significant at p < 0.01. We reject the null hypothesis and state that Hindi ballots do have a correlation to Indian voter turnout and that it has a negative correlation at the 1% significance level.

This regression is interesting because of its divergence from previous results that found a negative correlation at low significance levels. With the p < 0.01, this is the first regression done at the national origin group level that shows extreme statistical significance. This may be further explained by the fact that the language ballot for the Indian national origin group is provided in

Hindi and India boasts the most language diversity amongst the six nations studied in the data. Therefore, this could be a sign that though the Hindi ballot is provided based on the number of Indian LEP voters, these LEP voters actually do not speak Hindi and another Indian language, therefore benefitting from the ballot at all and resulting in no or negative correlation.

BIC -222.5 509.1 813.3 -481.6 -615.9 -526.7							
Hindi Ballot (0.009) (0.009) (0.027) (0.009) (0.042) (0.090) Hindi Ballot -0.104 -0.112** -0.064 -0.019* -0.027*** -0.023 (0.100) (0.036) (0.048) (0.007) (0.007) (0.060) Total Turnout		Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Hindi Ballot -0.104 -0.112** -0.064 -0.019* -0.027*** -0.023 (0.100) (0.036) (0.048) (0.007) (0.007) (0.060) Total Turnout	(Intercept)	0.605***	0.618***	0.615***	-0.208***	0.051	0.059
Ballot -0.104 -0.112** -0.064 -0.019* -0.027*** -0.023 Ballot (0.100) (0.036) (0.048) (0.007) (0.007) (0.060) Total Turnout		(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.027)	(0.009)	(0.042)	(0.090)
Total Turnout 1.253**** 0.875**** 0.854**** Num.Obs. 348 348 348 348 348 348 R2 0.003 0.028 0.106 0.979 0.987 0.856 R2 Adj. 0.000 0.025 -0.073 0.974 0.984 0.823 AIC -234.0 497.5 582.1 -716.6 -870.1 -780.9 BIC -222.5 509.1 813.3 -481.6 -615.9 -526.7 Log.Lik. 120.021 -245.769 -231.071 419.310 501.069 456.464 F 1.087 9.852 0.594 224.594 328.136 26.248 RMSE 0.17 0.17 0.16 0.07 0.07 0.07		-0.104	-0.112**	-0.064	-0.019*	-0.027***	-0.023
Turnout1.253***0.875***0.854***Num.Obs.348348348348348348R20.0030.0280.1060.9790.9870.856R2 Adj.0.0000.025-0.0730.9740.9840.823AlC-234.0497.5582.1-716.6-870.1-780.9BlC-222.5509.1813.3-481.6-615.9-526.7Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07		(0.100)	(0.036)	(0.048)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.060)
Num.Obs.348348348348348348348R20.0030.0280.1060.9790.9870.856R2 Adj.0.0000.025-0.0730.9740.9840.823AIC-234.0497.5582.1-716.6-870.1-780.9BIC-222.5509.1813.3-481.6-615.9-526.7Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07					1.253***	0.875***	0.854***
R20.0030.0280.1060.9790.9870.856R2 Adj.0.0000.025-0.0730.9740.9840.823AIC-234.0497.5582.1-716.6-870.1-780.9BIC-222.5509.1813.3-481.6-615.9-526.7Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.160.070.070.07					(0.012)	(0.057)	(0.118)
R2 Adj.0.0000.025-0.0730.9740.9840.823AIC-234.0497.5582.1-716.6-870.1-780.9BIC-222.5509.1813.3-481.6-615.9-526.7Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07	Num.Obs.	348	348	348	348	348	348
AIC-234.0497.5582.1-716.6-870.1-780.9BIC-222.5509.1813.3-481.6-615.9-526.7Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07	R2	0.003	0.028	0.106	0.979	0.987	0.856
BIC-222.5509.1813.3-481.6-615.9-526.7Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07	R2 Adj.	0.000	0.025	-0.073	0.974	0.984	0.823
Log.Lik.120.021-245.769-231.071419.310501.069456.464F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07	AIC	-234.0	497.5	582.1	-716.6	-870.1	-780.9
F1.0879.8520.594224.594328.13626.248RMSE0.170.170.160.070.070.07	BIC	-222.5	509.1	813.3	-481.6	-615.9	-526.7
RMSE 0.17 0.17 0.16 0.07 0.07 0.07	Log.Lik.	120.021	-245.769	-231.071	419.310	501.069	456.464
	F	1.087	9.852	0.594	224.594	328.136	26.248
Weighted - X X X X -	RMSE	0.17	0.17	0.16	0.07	0.07	0.07
	Weighted	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	-

Figure 7: Indian Voter Turnout Regression

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
County FE	-	-	х	Х	Х	Х
Year FE	-	-	-	-	Х	Х

Figure 8 shows the coefficient comparison for the Model 5 regression across all 6 national origin groups. When looking at the coefficients side by side, we see that there is a wide standard error for each national origin group. When disregarding statistical significance, the Mandarin ballot showed the weakest correlation with Chinese voter turnout with a negative coefficient of -0.002 and the Hindi ballot showed the strongest correlation with the Indian voter turnout with a negative coefficient of -.027. The Vietnamese correlation had the widest margin of standard error. Overall, the figure shows that all national origin groups show a negative correlation for Model 5 (all variables included). We confirm the general trend of a negative correlation with varying statistical significance and size for all national origin groups, addressing Hypothesis 1 through 6.

Figure 8: Model 5 Comparison



Finally, Figure 9 shows the compiled regression. The data is formatted differently than in the previous nationality specific regressions. This data considers each observation as electioncounty-group, whereas previous regressions used election-county per observation. Because the R-squared is the highest for Model 5, I choose to focus on this for the discussion. The coefficient shows that the provision of the ballot had a negative correlation with Asian voter turnout by - 3.8% and the result is extremely statistically significant at p < 0.01. We reject the null hypothesis and state that Asian ballots do have a correlation to Asian voter turnout and that it has a negative correlation at the 1% significance level.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
(Intercept)	0.623***	0.610***	0.613***	-0.100***	-0.007	-0.026
	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.014)	(0.008)	(0.036)	(0.061)
Asian Ballot	-0.014	-0.030***	-0.023*	-0.034***	-0.038***	-0.030*
	(0.016)	(0.007)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.015)
Total Turnout				1.097***	0.928***	0.982***
				(0.009)	(0.050)	(0.080)
Num.Obs.	2065	2065	2065	2065	2065	2065
R2	0.000	0.008	0.123	0.893	0.910	0.599
R2 Adj.	0.000	0.007	0.097	0.890	0.907	0.586
AIC	-1179.5	4011.8	3871.0	-475.7	-818.5	-2937.5
BIC	-1162.6	4028.7	4208.9	-132.1	-446.7	-2565.7
Log.Lik.	592.728	-2002.892	-1875.479	298.872	475.259	1534.754
F	0.729	15.616	4.839	284.228	315.883	46.597
RMSE	0.18	0.18	0.17	0.12	0.12	0.12
Weighted	-	Х	Х	Х	Х	-

Figure 9: Asian Voter Turnout Regression

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
County FE	-	-	Х	Х	Х	Х
Year FE	-	-	-	-	х	Х

Discussion and Conclusion

For the Chinese, Korean and Vietnamese regression models, we failed to reject the null hypothesis and therefore failed to prove a correlation between the provision of the group's language ballot and their turnout. In the combined regression, along with the Japanese, Filipino and Indian voter groups, we see that there is a negative correlation of statistical significance between the provided Asian language ballot and the national origin group. This diverges from the hypotheses built upon established literature and theory.

Hidden Coverage

Aside from Section 203 of the VRA, jurisdictions in California have an alternative way of gaining language ballots: through the California Elections Code 14201. Designed as a more progressive measure than the VRA, Code 14201 expands upon Section 203 and provides translated facsimile ballots to precincts in the state with an LEP population of three percent in the jurisdiction, for any language—lowering the population threshold required and removing the minority language barrier that Section 203 imposed.

However, data for precincts covered under Code 14201 could not be included in this study. First, in 2022, the data used by the state to determine the number of LEP at the precinct level was inaccurate that they reversed the determinations made for Code 14201 that year. The Office of the Secretary of State stated that "The special tabulation language data set we received from the United States Census Bureau - data that the Secretary of State uses to make our determinations - was suppressed by the Census Bureau. As a result, some language data seen previously in 2017 was no longer available" (Reyes 2022). As a result, they reinstated the determinations made in 2017 and 2020. Second, Code 14201 requires the provision of a

translated facsimile ballot that is provided in a conspicuous location at the polling place, not an actual ballot that the voter can fill out and vote on as is required by Section 203 of the VRA. This means that voters receive a sample ballot with Code 14201 and therefore the level of information between covered counties in Section 203 and covered precincts by Code 14201 are inconsistent. Lastly, even if the data were to be accurate, it would be difficult to incorporate the data with the Section 203 coverage because the Code 14201 coverage is at the precinct level, with constantly changing precinct boundaries, whereas Section 203 remains at the county level.

Besides precincts covered through Code 14201, there are counties in the state that voluntarily provide language support to minority voters. This is up to the discretion of the county's registrar office and there is no formal database or history that tracks which counties covered which languages during which elections, making it difficult to denote them as having been covered in the data used for this study. Furthermore, there is the question that counties that choose to cover minority languages, absorbing the time and cost of this maneuver without prompt, could have further intrinsic motivation to provide other materials to underrepresented voters that could affect their turnout but cannot be measured in this study.

Both of these coverage factors may attribute to higher Asian voter turnout in counties that are marked as not covered in the data. This could lead to a shortening in the gap between turnout in covered vs. non-covered counties, or even higher turnout in counties that have "hidden" coverage, explaining the negative correlation between the covered counties and ballots found in the regression.

LEP Voters and Automatic Registration

Because of the very language barriers that ballots are supposed to overcome, LEP voters are less likely to turnout to vote than their English speaking Asian American counterparts. They tend to have lower socioeconomic status and education rates. LEP voters also conduct less knowledge about the elections process and the candidates because of the language barrier. They can also be less integrated into the community, making it harder for elections material to reach them.

In order for a county to have coverage, it means there must be a significant LEP AAPI population. This means there are going to be more people who have traditionally lower turnout, bringing down the turnout rate for the national origin group overall.

This fundamental is exaggerated by the inefficiencies of the language ballot. LEP voters may not be able to take full advantage of the language ballot because the ballot is dependent on the primary language spoken by the national origin group and not the language that the LEP voter speaks. While this may not present as big of an issue to Japanese or Korean voters who speak one language, it can make a significant difference to LEP voters who have a national origin from China or India, where several, if not hundreds of different languages are spoken other than the one provided by the Mandarin or Hindi ballot. Figure 8 studying Indian voter turnout supports this theory because of the statistically significant negative correlation. Just because an LEP voter is from India does not mean that the Hindi ballot will help them in the voting process.

Furthermore, California has adopted statewide automatic voter registration and does not drop anyone from voter rolls. This means that all eligible CVAP are now automatically registered to vote even if they have no intention or knowledge, which may describe LEP voters. Then, this means that the denominator in calculating the turnout rate—the number of registrants—is raised through this automatic enrollment but the numerator—the number of actual voters—may remain the same, resulting in decreases in voter turnout.

Language ballots and other resources are helpful to voters as indicated by qualitative data through interviews and surveys conducted with LEP voters and voter rights advocacy groups. However, the data failed to show a statistically significant correlation between different national origin groups and their associated language ballots.

Multiple pieces of the literature have identified language as a prominent barrier, such as voters having difficulty in reading candidate names or positions on the ballot, navigating the English website to register to vote or apply for an absentee ballot and understanding campaign materials. Because of the high percentage of Asian American voters who identify as LEP and the majority of the electorate consisting of naturalized immigrants, this demographic is especially sensitive to language resources, such as language ballots, phone banking in the preferred language and outreach by AAPI advocacy organizations.

California should work to expand minority language voter access by making ballots more efficient and inclusive. Language access impacts voter turnout for Asian Americans because of the makeup of the electorate that consists of naturalized immigrants and those with LEP who would benefit greatly from increased access to translated material. When voters can access information in their native language, they are more likely to understand the issues at stake and make informed decisions. Translated materials, including ballots, simplify the voting process and empower Asian voters to exercise their democratic rights with confidence. Without access to language resources, voters may feel excluded and discouraged from participating in the democratic process because they simply do not know which candidate to vote for or even that an election is occurring.

This helps ensure that voters with LEP can understand the voting process and make informed choices to contribute to a democracy. These determinations are made every 5 years with data from the US Census Bureau. Though Section 203 aims to promote access to the voting process for individuals with LEP, the data presented in this paper show that the thresholds should become more expansive to allow for minority languages to become easier to access for voters.

References

APIA Vote & AAPI Data. 2022. "2022 AAPI Voter Demographic by State."

https://apiavote.org/wp-content/uploads/Georgia.pdf (February 25, 2024).

Augustin, Stanley. 2019. "Georgia Largely Abandons Its Broken 'Exact Match' Voter

Registration Process." *Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights Under Law.* www.lawyerscommittee.org/georgia-largely-abandons-its-broken-exact-match-voterregistration-process/. (February 25, 2024).

Axelrod, David and Mike Murphy. 2016. "More than 30 percent of voters fail to complete their ballots. Don't be one of them." *Vox.* <u>https://www.vox.com/the-big-</u>

<u>idea/2016/11/7/13553496/down-ballot-vote-local-elections-informed-voter</u> (March 22, 2024).

- Baldassare, Mark, Dean Bonner, Alyssa Dykman and Rachel Lawler. 2020. "Race and Voting in California." *Public Policy Institute of California*. <u>https://www.ppic.org/publication/race-and-voting-in-california/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Barreto, M. A. 2018. "The Cycle of Undermobilization of Minority Voters." *The Journal of Race, Ethnicity, and Politics* 3(1): 185–88. Cambridge University Press (February 25, 2024).
- Bedolla, Lisa G. and Melissa R. Michelson. 2009. "What Do Voters Need to Know? Testing the Role of Cognitive Information in Asian American Voter Mobilization." *American Politics Research* 37(2): 254-274. ResearchGate (February 25, 2024).
- Bloomberg Government. 2022. "Election Demographics and Voter Turnout: Breaking down demographic data, the diversifying U.S. population, and what it means for the 2022

elections and beyond." https://about.bgov.com/brief/election-demographics-and-voterturnout/ (February 25, 2024).

- Brady, Henry E., Sidney Verba and Kay Lehman Schlozman. 1995. "Beyond Ses: A Resource Model of Political Participation." *American Political Science Review* 89(2): 271-294.
 JSTOR. (March 22, 2024).
- Brody, Richard A. 1978. "The puzzle of political participation in America." *American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research*: 287-324. ECONIS. (March 22, 2024).
- Budiman, Abby and Neil G. Ruiz. 2021a. "Asian Americans are the fastest-growing racial or ethnic group in the U.S." *Pew Research Center*. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/short-</u> <u>reads/2021/04/09/asian-americans-are-the-fastest-growing-racial-or-ethnic-group-in-the-</u> <u>u-s/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Budiman, Abby, and Neil G. Ruiz. 2021b. "Key Facts about Asian Americans, a Diverse and Growing Population." *Pew Research Center*. <u>www.pewresearch.org/short-</u> <u>reads/2021/04/29/key-facts-about-asian-americans/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Budiman, Abby, Jeffrey S. Passel and Carolyne Im. 2024. "Key Facts about Asian American eligible voters in 2024." *Pew Research Center*. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/short-</u> <u>reads/2024/01/10/key-facts-about-asian-american-eligible-voters-in-2024/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- California Elections Code. 1994. *California Legislative Information*. Division 14, Chapter 3. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=ELEC&sec tionNum=14201 (March 5, 2024).
- California Secretary of State. 2021. "Language Requirements for

Election Materials." <u>https://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/voting-resources/language-</u> requirements#:~:text=California%20Elections%20Code%20section%2014201,sufficient %20skills%20in%20English%20to (March 5, 2024).

- Chan, Nathan, Joyce H. Nguy and Natalie Masuoka. 2022. "The Asian American Vote in 2020: Indicators of Turnout and Vote Choice." *Political Behavior* 46(3): 631-655.
 ResearchGate (February 25, 2024).
- Diaz, Maria E. D. 2012. "Asian Embeddedness and Political Participation: Social Integration and Asian-American Voting Behavior in the 2000 Presidential Election." Sociological Perspectives 55(1): 141–166. Sage Journals (February 25, 2024).
- Dugyala, Rishika. 2021. "Asian Americans are the least likely to hold elected office." *Politico*. <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2021/05/04/asian-american-pacific-islander-</u> representation-elected-office-485279 (February 25, 2024).
- Filer, John E., Lawrence W. Kenny and Rebecca B. Morton. 1991. "Voting Laws, Educational Policies, and Minority Turnout." *Journal of Law & Economics* 34(2): 371-393. JSTOR (March 22, 2024).
- Fraga, Bernard L. 2015. "Redistricting and the Causal Impact of Race on Voter Turnout." Journal of Politics 78(1): 19-34. The University of Chicago Press (February 25, 2024).
- Fraga, Bernard L. and Julie L. Merseth. 2016. "Examining the Causal Impact of the Voting Rights Act Language Minority Provisions." *Journal of Race, Ethnicity and Politics* 1(1): 31-59. Cambridge University Press (February 25, 2024).
- Guzman, Peter de, Alberto Medina, Sara Suzuki and Kelly Siegel-Stechler. 2022. "Mail-In Voting Is Critical to Young Asian Americans' Voter Participation." *Circle at Tufts*.

https://circle.tufts.edu/latest-research/mail-voting-critical-young-asian-americans-voterparticipation (February 25, 2024).

- Hanna, Mary and Jeanne Batalova. 2021. "Immigrants from Asia in the United States." *Migration Policy Institute*. <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/immigrants-asia-united-states-2020</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Huntington-Klein, Nick. 2021. *The Effect: An Introduction to Research Design and Causality*. Chapman & Hall. (March 17, 2024).
- Jang, Seung-Jin. 2009. "Get Out on Behalf of Your Group: Electoral Participation of Latinos and Asian Americans." *Political Behavior* 31: 511-535. JSTOR (February 25, 2024).
- Jones-Correa, Michael. 2005. "Language Provisions Under the Voting Rights Act: How Effective are They?" *Social Science Quarterly* 86(3): 549-564. JSTOR (February 25, 2024).
- Kim, JuYeon. 2020. "Report: Sam's Club Stabbing Suspect Thought Family Was 'Chinese Infecting People with Coronavirus." *KXAN Austin*, April 8. <u>www.kxan.com/news/crime/report-sams-club-stabbing-suspect-thought-family-waschinese-infecting-people-with-coronavirus/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Lien, Pei-te. 2004. "Asian Americans and Voting Participation: Comparing Racial and Ethnic Differences in Recent U. S, Elections." *International Migration Review* 38(2): 493-517. JSTOR (February 25, 2024).
- Mann, Christopher B., Melissa R. Michelson and Matt Davis. 2020. "What is the impact of bilingual communication to mobilize Latinos? Exploratory evidence from experiments in New Jersey, North Carolina and Virginia." *Electoral Studies* 65(2020) 102132.
 ScienceDirect (February 25, 2024).

- Masuoka, Natalie, Kumar Ramanathan and Jane Junn. 2019. "New Asian American Voters:
 Political Incorporation and Participation in 2016." *Political Research Quarterly* 72(4):
 991-1003. JSTOR (February 25, 2024).
- Matsusaka, John G. 1995. "Explaining Voter Turnout Patterns: An Information Theory." *Public Choice* 84(1): 91-117. JSTOR (March 22, 2024).

Monte, Lindsay M. and Hyon B. Shin. 2022. "20.6 Million People in the U.S. Identify as an Asian, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander." *U.S. Census Bureau*. <u>https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2022/05/aanhpi-population-diverse-geographically-dispersed.html#:~:text=73.2%25%20of%20those%20who%20identified,States%20were</u>

<u>%20born%20in%20Asia</u> (February 25, 2024).

Mora, Lauren and Mark H. Lopez. 2023. "Latinos' Views of and Experiences With the Spanish Language." *Pew Research Center*. <u>www.pewresearch.org/race-</u>

ethnicity/2023/09/20/latinos-views-of-and-experiences-with-the-spanish-language/

(Feburary 25, 2024).

Moslimani, Mohamad, Mark H. Lopez and Luis Noe-Bustamante. 2023. "11 facts about Hispanic origin groups in the U.S." *Pew Research Center*.

https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2023/08/16/11-facts-about-hispanic-origin-

groups-in-the-

us/#:~:text=About%2081%25%20of%20Hispanics%20living,become%20U.S.%20citize ns%20through%20naturalization (February 25, 2024).

Nguyen, Alex. 2022. "Ahead of Elections, Asian American and Pacific Islander Organizers Try

to Break down Language Barriers." Texas Tribune, October 19.

www.texastribune.org/2022/10/19/asian-american-pacific-islander-voting-access/. (February 25, 2024).

- Noe-Bustamante, Luis, Neil G. Ruiz, Mark H. Lopez and Khadijah Edwards. 2022. "About a Third of Asian Americans Say They Have Changed Their Daily Routine Due to Concerns over Threats, Attacks." *Pew Research Center*. <u>www.pewresearch.org/short-</u> <u>reads/2022/05/09/about-a-third-of-asian-americans-say-they-have-changed-their-daily-</u> <u>routine-due-to-concerns-over-threats-attacks/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Palfrey, Thomas and Keith T. Poole. 1987. "The Relationship Between Information, Ideology and Voting Behavior." *American Journal of Political Science* 31(3): 511-530.
 ResearchGate. (March 22, 2024).
- Potters, Charles. 2023. "R-Squared vs. Adjusted R-Squared: What's the Difference?" *Investopedia*. <u>https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/012615/whats-difference-between-rsquared-and-adjusted-</u> <u>rsquared.asp#:~:text=Adjusted%20R%2Dsquared%20is%20a,would%20be%20expected</u>

<u>%20by%20chance</u>. (March 17, 2024).

- Pryor, Ben, Rebekah Herrick and James A. Davis. 2019. "Voter ID Laws: The
 Disenfranchisement of Minority Voters?" *Political Science Quarterly* 134(1): 63-83.
 Oxford Academic (February 25, 2024).
- Quach, Thu, Lan N. Doan, Julia Liou and Ninez A. Ponce. 2021. "A Rapid Assessment of the Impact of COVID-19 on Asian Americans: Cross-Sectional Survey Study." *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance*, 7(6): e23976. JMIR Publications (February 25, 2024).

Ramakrishnan, Karthick. 2021. "In 2020, AAPIs saw the highest increases in voter turnout."

AAPI Data. https://aapidata.com/blog/2020-record-turnout/ (February 25, 2024).

- Reyes, Steve. 2022. "Reinstated Languages Required under California Elections Code section 14201, Language Minority Determinations." *Office of California Secretary of State*. https://elections.cdn.sos.ca.gov/ccrov/2022/march/22039sr.pdf (March 21, 2024).
- Redistricting & Voting Rights Data Office. 2022. "Section 203 Language Determinations." *United States Census Bureau*. <u>https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial-</u> <u>census/about/voting-rights/voting-rights-determination-file.html</u> (March 5, 2024).
- Ruiz, Neil G., Luis Noe-Bustamante and Sono Shah. 2023. "Appendix: Demographic Profile of Asian American Adults." *Pew Research Center*. <u>www.pewresearch.org/race-</u> <u>ethnicity/2023/05/08/asian-american-identity-appendix-demographic-profile-of-asian-</u> <u>american-adults/</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Schaeffer, Katherine. 2023. "Asian Voters in the U.S. Tend to Be Democratic, but Vietnamese American Voters Are an Exception." *Pew Research Center*. <u>www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2023/05/25/asian-voters-in-the-u-s-tend-to-be-democratic-but-vietnamese-american-voters-are-an-</u>

exception/#:~:text=In%202021%2C%2013.4%20million%20Asian,and%20the%20Distri ct%20of%20Columbia (February 25, 2024).

- Sprunt, Barbara. 2021. "Here's What the New Hate Crimes Law Aims to Do as Attacks on Asian Americans Rise." *NPR*, May 20. <u>https://www.npr.org/2021/05/20/998599775/biden-to-</u> <u>sign-the-covid-19-hate-crimes-bill-as-anti-asian-american-attacks-rise</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Stop AAPI Hate. 2021. "Shades of Hate." <u>https://stopaapihate.org/2023/11/14/shades-of-hate/</u> (February 25, 2024).

U.S. Department of Justice. 2023. "About Language Minority Voting Rights." *Civil Rights Division*. <u>https://www.justice.gov/crt/about-language-minority-</u> <u>voting-rights (February 25, 2024).</u>

U.S. Department of Justice. 2023. "Language Minority Citizens." Civil Rights Division.

https://www.justice.gov/crt/language-minority-

citizens#:~:text=Section%20203%20provides%3A%20%22Whenever%20any,language %20of%20the%20applicable%20minority (March 5, 2024).

Vaishnav, Milan and Nitya Labh. 2023. "Asian Americans in California: Results from a 2022 Survey." *Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*.

https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/10/17/asian-americans-in-california-results-from-2022-survey-pub-

90765#:~:text=By%202060%2C%20Asian%20Americans%20are,readily%20apparent% 20than%20in%20California. (February 25, 2024).

- Viebeck, Elise. 2020. "Minuscule Number of Potentially Fraudulent Ballots in States with Universal Mail Voting Undercuts Trump Claims about Election Risks." *The Washington Post*, June 11. <u>www.washingtonpost.com/politics/minuscule-number-of-potentially-</u> <u>fraudulent-ballots-in-states-with-universal-mail-voting-undercuts-trump-claims-about-</u> <u>election-risks/2020/06/08/1e78aa26-a5c5-11ea-bb20-ebf0921f3bbd_story.html</u> (February 25, 2024).
- Wang, Claire. 2022. "Asian Americans Had the Highest Rate of Mail-in Voting in 2020. New Laws Could Block That Progress." *NBC News*, October 27.
 <u>www.nbcnews.com/news/asian-america/asian-americans-highest-rate-mail-voting-2020-new-laws-block-progress-rcna54203</u> (February 25, 2024).

Wang, Hansi Lo. 2022. "A federal law requires translated voting ballots, but not in Arabic or Haitian Creole." NPR, June 26. <u>https://www.npr.org/2022/06/24/1083848846/bilingualballots-voting-rights-act-section-203-explained</u> (March 5 2024).

Wolfinger, Raymond E. and Steven J. Rosenstone. 1980. Who Votes? Yale University Press.

- Wong, Janelle S., Pei-te Lien and M. Margaret Conway. 2005. "Group-Based Resources and Political Participation Among Asian Americans." *American Politics Research* 33(4): 545-576. Sage Journals (February 25, 2024).
- Wong-Padoongpatt, Gloria, Aldo Barrita, Anthony King and Michelle Strong. 2022. "The slow violence of racism on Asian Americans during the COVID-19 pandemic." *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10. Frontiers (February 25, 2024).
- Wray-Lake, Laura, Julia Tang and Christine Victorino. 2017. "Are They Political? Examining Asian American College Students' Civic Engagement." Asian American Journal of Psychology 8(1): 31-42. APA PsychNet (February 25, 2024).
- Yam, Kimmy. 2021. "Asian American Voter Rates in Georgia Hit Record High. How Voting Bill Threatens Progress." NBC News, March 31. <u>www.nbcnews.com/news/asianamerica/asian-american-voter-rates-georgia-hit-record-high-how-voting-n1262682</u> (February 25, 2024).